FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/24/2018 3:15 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95887-4 No.

Court of Appeals No. 76204-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

۷.

FREDERICK A. KASEBURG and KEITH L. HOLMQUIST,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 <u>ken@appeal-law.com</u> Attorney for Petitioners

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss the condemnation petition, where the City violated the appearance of fairness doctrine?
Did the trial court err in refusing to dismiss the condemnation petition, where the City violated the Open Public Meetings Act?
Where the City excluded the condemnees from its condemnation process due to the pendency of the second appeal in this action, did it violate their constitutional due process right to notice and an opportunity to be heard under RCW 8.25.290?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. This is the third appeal arising from the City's attempt to take the appellants' properties.

This is the third appeal¹ arising out of the City's attempt to take the appellants' properties. In the first appeal (*Holmquist I*) the Court of Appeals affirmed a summary judgment quieting title in these appellants to the end of NE 130th Street, abutting Lake Washington. *Holmquist v. King Cnty.*, 182 Wn. App. 200, 328 P.3d 1000, *rev. denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1029 (2014). Rather than repeat the 100-plusyears of history, the appellants refer the Court to *Holmquist I*.

¹ The first two decisions are attached as Appendices D & E.

The second appeal (*Holmquist II*) concerned the trial court's denial of the appellants' requests for damages arising from the City's use of supersedeas without bond, suppressing appellants' rights to exclusive use and enjoyment of their properties. *Holmquist v. King Cnty.*, 192 Wn. App. 551, 368 P.3d 234 (2016). The supersedeas permitted the City to maintain a sign on the properties, and a website inviting the public to use the properties, which it did. *Holmquist II* at 555. The appellate court reversed, holding that these appellants were entitled to \$74,520 in damages against the City. *Id.* at 559, 566.

B. The properties are in a quiet residential neighborhood abutting a cove.

The waterfront properties at issue are in a quiet residential area along the west shoreline of Lake Washington, accessible only by a narrow private road, with some additional width for homeowner parking. CP 487. The properties include a cove with a sandy beach. *Id.* Kaseburg's property includes the south half of the cove and about 39 linear feet of bulkheaded waterfront. *Id.* The Holmquist property includes the north half of the cove and portions of a dock. CP 572.

C. The City's retaliation has been successful – so far.

While *Holmquist II* was pending in this Court, some members of the public and several Seattle City Council members conducted an extensive campaign to convince other council members and the Mayor to commit to condemning the appellants' properties for a waterfront park. CP 487-92, 496-569, 578-81. This included Councilmember Bagshaw, who is a member of the "Friends of NE 130th Beach" Facebook group. CP 580.

The history of that campaign, and the commitment by all nine Councilmembers on June 8, 2015 to approve a future condemnation ordinance,² is detailed in emails, as summarized in the trial court (CP 487-92) and at BA 5-9. The City introduced no evidence rebutting these emails, which show that the City violated RCW 8.25.290 when it took final action on or before June 8, 2015, without giving the condemnees proper notice and a reasonable opportunity to be heard. *Id.* Indeed, when Kaseburg's fiancée tried to be heard, the Petitioners were shut out from the process *specifically because they were involved in a different ongoing litigation with the City* (CP 520):

Until such litigation [*Holmquist II*] has as been concluded by a final ruling of the courts and publically [*sic*] announced, I and the City Attorney's Office are advising Nick to refrain from further communication with you or commenting on this matter.

The upshot was that the condemnees were excluded from

participating in the condemnation proceedings before the Council.

² The June 8, 2015 letter signed by all nine Councilmembers to Mayor Ed Murray supporting condemnation is at BA Appendix D. CP 494-95.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. This Court should accept review of two important questions of first impression: whether the appearance of fairness doctrine applies to condemnation proceedings and whether the City's violation voids the condemnation, particularly where the appellate decision conflicts with statutes and this Court's opinions. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

The appearance of fairness doctrine applies where notice and a hearing are required by statute. *Zehring v. City of Bellevue*, 103 Wn.2d 588, 591, 694 P.2d 638 (1985). Notice and a public hearing are required under RCW 8.25.290. "The intent of the doctrine is to maintain public confidence in quasi-judicial decisions made by legislative bodies." *Harris v. Hornbaker*, 98 Wn.2d 650, 658, 658 P.2d 1219 (1983). "The doctrine requires that public hearings which are adjudicatory in nature meet two requirements: the hearing itself must be procedurally fair . . . and it must be conducted by impartial decisionmakers." *Raynes v. City of Leavenworth*, 118 Wn.2d 237, 245-46, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992) (citing *Smith v. Skagit Cnty.*,75 Wn.2d 715, 740, 453 P.2d 832 (1969); *Buell v. City of Bremerton*, 80 Wn.2d 518, 523, 495 P.2d 1358 (1972)).

Here, the record is clear that the City violated the appearance of fairness doctrine by determining that it was going to condemn the properties before it notified the condemnees – indeed, while they

were excluded from communicating with council members. The

hearing was neither fair nor impartial. This Court should grant review.

The Court of Appeals' error occurs here (App. A at 13):

The appearance of fairness doctrine was modified by the legislature in 1982 when it enacted chapter 42.36 RCW That act provides, in pertinent part [emphases added]:

> Application of the appearance of fairness doctrine to local land use decisions shall be limited to the quasijudicial actions of local decision-making bodies as defined in this section. Quasi-judicial actions of local decision-making bodies are those actions of the legislative body, planning commission, hearing examiner, zoning adjuster, board of adjustment, or boards which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or other contested case proceeding. Quasi-judicial actions do not include the legislative actions adopting, amending, comprehensive, community, or revisina or neighborhood plans or other land use planning documents or the adoption of area-wide zoning ordinances or the adoption of a zoning amendment that is of areawide significance.

RCW 42.36.010. The act further provides that "[n]o legislative action taken by a local legislative body, its members, or local executive officials shall be invalidated by an application of the appearance of fairness doctrine." RCW 42.36.030.

Specifically, the court's error is in applying RCW Ch. 42.36 to

condemnation proceedings. On its face, RCW 42.36.010 expressly

limits that chapter to "local land use decisions" - excluding other

types of decisions. The Court of Appeals erroneously treats a

condemnation ordinance as a local land use decision.

Having misapplied Chapter 42.36, the Court of Appeals then reads RCW 42.36.030 (exempting legislative actions like area-wide rezones and area-wide comprehensive plans) to exempt Seattle's condemnation ordinance as a legislative species of a local land use decision and not a quasi-judicial act. The appellate court mixes apples and oranges – which can only produce a legal fruit salad – and has set a new precedent in misreading RCW Ch. 42.36.

Since this Court's common-law appearance of fairness doctrine was *not* modified by RCW Ch. 42.36 as to other quasijudicial decisions like condemnation, it remains intact. This Court established the appearance of fairness doctrine in a series of cases beginning in 1969. *Smith*, 75 Wn.2d at 70; *Buell*, 80 Wn.2d at 523; and *Fleming v. City of Tacoma*, 81 Wn.2d 292, 299, 502 P.2d 327 (1972), *overruled in part on other grounds, Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 247 (overruling *Fleming* solely as to comprehensive plans and zoning code amendments as required by RCW 42.36.010, enacted after *Fleming*). This Court's common-law doctrine requires all quasi-judicial public hearings that affect individual property rights to be procedurally fair and conducted by impartial decision makers. *Id*. The appellate decision conflicts with *Smith*, *Buell*, and *Fleming*.

The appellate court relies on *Harris v. Hornbaker*, 98 Wn.2d 650, 658 P.2d 1219 (1983). App. A at 14-15. *Harris* involved a board of county commissioners' recommendation to the Department of Transportation (DOT) regarding the location of a highway interchange. 98 Wn.2d at 652. "The determination of where to place a road has traditionally been a distinctly legislative decision." *Id.* at 658 (citing RCW 36.75.140; *State ex rel. Schroeder v. Superior Court*, 29 Wash. 1, 69 P. 366 (1902)). And in that case, "notice and procedural requirements were followed for both hearings," and the Board adopted "a 6-year plan including its recommendation to the IDOT]." *Id.* at 656. *Harris* is nothing like this case.

But *Harris* does cite and discuss the controlling case, *Fleming*, 98 Wn.2d at 657. *Harris* specifically notes that "legislative bodies may be entrusted with essentially adjudicatory tasks." *Id.* (citing *Fleming* ("county board's rezoning decisions deemed quasijudicial"); *In re Juvenile Director*, 87 Wn.2d 232, 552 P.2d 163 (1976)). Again, under the common-law appearance of fairness doctrine exemplified in *Fleming*, the appearance of fairness doctrine survives and applies in this matter.

The City cited – but did not apply – a four-part test for distinguishing quasi-judicial from legislative actions, quoting *Harris*

v. Pierce Cnty., 84 Wn. App. 222, 928 P.2d 1111 (1996) ("*Harris* 1996") (quoting *Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 244-45). BR 38-39. *Harris* 1996 involved a county council's adoption of a master trail plan. 84 Wn.2d at 226. "Such policymaking decisions, which are based on the consideration of public opinion, are within the purview of legislative bodies, not courts of law." *Id.* at 229 (citing *Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 245). *Harris* 1996 is nothing like this case.

In *Raynes*, which the City also did not discuss, the Court faced a zoning amendment. 118 Wn.2d at 245. The Legislature adopted RCW Ch. 42.36 after *Fleming*, so the Court held that the county's zoning decision was legislative, per that statute. *Id.* at 249. But in the course of its decision, even *Raynes* noted that the "statute defines quasi judicial to include actions of local legislative bodies 'which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or other contested case proceeding.' RCW 42.36.010." *Id.* at 247. Indeed, that statute distinguishes between quasi-judicial "actions of local decision-making bodies . . . which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties," on the one hand, and "legislative actions adopting, amending, or revising <u>comprehensive, community, or neighborhood plans</u> or other <u>land use planning documents</u> or the <u>adoption of area-wide zoning</u>

ordinances or the adoption of a zoning amendment that is of areawide significance," on the other. RCW 42.36.010 (emphases added).

The distinction is clear: condemnation remains a quasi-judicial action because it determines the legal rights of specific parties (the condemnees) without rezoning or affecting other comprehensive community-wide plans. While the City argues that this condemnation is <u>consistent</u> with existing plans, it does not amend or revise them.

Although the City did not address the *Harris* **1996** factors in its briefing, the appellate court did so *sua sponte*. App. A at 14. Yet it focused not on the decision to condemn the properties – the action the Council actually took – but rather on the adoption of "an ordinance" generally. *Id.* Applying the test to the action at issue – condemnation – shows it to be quasi-judicial:

(1) whether the court could have been charged with the duty at issue in the first instance [courts can and do make condemnation decisions];

(2) whether the courts have historically performed such duties [same];

(3) whether the action of the municipal corporation involves application of existing law to past or present facts for the purpose of declaring or enforcing liability rather than a response to changing conditions through the enactment of a new general law of prosecutive [*sic*]³ application [condemning

³ The Court of Appeals quoted *Harris 1996*, which *misquoted Raynes*, which correctly quotes *Standow v. Spokane*, 88 Wn.2d 624, 631, 564 P.2d 1145, *appeal dismissed*, 434 U.S. 992 (1977). The word is prospective.

two people's property in retaliation for prior appellate victories destroys individual property rights and is not a general law of prospective application]; and

(4) whether the action more clearly resembles the ordinary business of courts, as opposed to those of legislators or administrators [taking people's property is not legislation].

In sum, the common-law appearance of fairness doctrine applies here because the Council's condemnation decision was quasi-judicial. Indeed, condemnation cannot proceed without an actual judicial proceeding that reviews and confirms (or perhaps rubber-stamps) the City's quasi-judicial decision. The courts erred in concluding that the initial decision is not subject to the appearance of fairness doctrine. And the condemnees' exclusion precluded even the appearance of fairness. This Court should accept review.

B. This Court should accept review of the important question of first impression: whether the Open Public Meetings Act applies; and whether the City's violation of the OPMA voids the condemnation. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

"The OPMA is Washington's comprehensive transparency statute." *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver*, 188 Wn.2d 421, 434, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017). "Enacted in 1971, the Act seeks 'to ensure public bodies make decisions openly." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[T]he purpose of the Act is to allow the public to view the decisionmaking process at all stages." *Id.* (quoting *Cathcart v.* *Andersen*, 85 Wn.2d 102, 107, 530 P.2d 313 (1975)). The statute "shall be liberally construed." RCW 42.30.910.

Here, the open public hearing mandated by RCW 8.25.290 and the OPMA simply never occurred. Instead, the full Council committed in writing to authorize condemnation on June 8, 2015, in a "briefing" of the full Council. CP 494-95, 549. The Council's notice of final hearing, and the September 21, 2015 hearing adopting the condemnation ordinance, were predetermined. *Compare id. with* CP 52. The true final decision was made three months earlier in a "briefing" that did not comply with RCW Ch. 8.25 and the OPMA. *Id.* This Court should accept review on this question of first impression.

Specifically, RCW 8.25.290(4)(a) incorporates RCW 42.30.020, under which "meeting" means "meetings at which action is taken." RCW 42.30.020(4). "Action" means "the transaction of the official business of a public agency by a governing body including but not limited to . . . deliberations, discussions, considerations, reviews, evaluations, and final actions." RCW 42.30.020(3). "Governing body" means "the . . . council . . . <u>or any committee thereof</u> when the committee acts on behalf of the governing body . . . or takes . . . public comment." RCW 42.30.020(2) (emphasis added). Since the

appellate court has determined that the series of emails was not a "chain meeting," there simply was no meeting satisfying the OPMA.

But the City claimed – and the appellate court apparently believed – that the "the Letter [*sic*] was signed in an open, public briefing." *Compare* BR 37 (citing CP 549; CP 586:1-2; RP 7:14-8:17) *with* App. A at 12 ("the council members singed the June [8,] 2015 letter to the mayor at a council meeting *open to the public*") (italics in original). Indeed, this "finding" appears to be the lynchpin of the court's decision on the OPMA. *Id.* at 3, 12, 16 n.4.

No evidence in this record shows that the June 8 briefing was an open public meeting. See BA 28-29, Reply Brief 8. The City's first cite (CP 549: "All Councilmembers signed on this morning at briefing") says nothing about an open public meeting. Its second cite (CP 586:1-2) refers to the City's reply brief in the trial court, which contains no citation to a record supporting this argumentative assertion. And the City's final cite is to its lawyer's oral argument in the trial court. RP 7-8. Argument is not evidence, and counsel cited no evidence supporting her assertions. *Id.* None exists.

And even if an open public meeting had occurred, it was not open to the excluded condemnees.

This Court should accept review to examine the important issues of first impression whether the OPMA applies to condemnation proceedings and whether the City's violation should void its improper condemnation determination.

C. This Court should accept review of the significant constitutional question: whether excluding the condemnees from the condemnation process violated their due process rights vested under RCW 8.25.290. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Even if this Court were to disagree that the common-law appearance of fairness doctrine and the OPMA apply and/or were violated, then it should reverse and void the condemnation because excluding the condemnees from the process violated their constitutional due process rights vested under RCW 8.25.290. The Court should accept review to examine this significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Due process requires notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. *See, e.g.*, *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed.2d 18 (1976). The notice statute for condemnations, RCW 8.25.290, required the City to provide notice and an opportunity to be heard before taking "final action" in deciding to condemn the properties. The City violated due process in deciding to condemn the properties before even hearing from the condemnees – indeed, while excluding them from the process.

In 2007, the Legislature unanimously adopted RCW 8.25.290, expressly disagreeing with this Court's 2005 decision in *Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller*, 156 Wn.2d 403, 128 P.3d 588 (2005) ("*RTA*"). See, 2007 REG. SESS. H.B. 1458 (2007); 2007 WASH. LAWS, C 68 L 07, SHB 1458, Final Bill Report at 3.⁴ *RTA* held that Sound Transit complied with statutory notice requirements by posting meeting information on its website. 156 Wn.2d at 415-16. But the Legislature cited Justices Alexander and Chambers in dissent, who said "due process demands that government err on the side of giving abundant notice when it seeks to take property." *Id.* at 425.

The Legislature thus adopted a notice procedure for meetings concerning condemnation, RCW 8.25.290. For "potential condemnors [like the City] subject to chapter 42.30 RCW, the open public meetings act, 'final action' has the same meaning as that provided in RCW 42.30.020." RCW 8.25.290(4)(a). And under RCW 42.30.020(3), "final action" includes "a collective positive . . . decision . . . upon a . . . proposal" This definition "does not require a *formal*

⁴ The Final Bill Report is at BA Appendix E.

motion; it can simply be an informal proposal resulting in a positive . . . decision" *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 138 Wn.2d 318, 330-31, 979 P.2d 429 (1999) ("*Miller 1999*").⁵

In the June 8, 2015 letter signed by all nine Councilmembers, the Council concluded that "the City should use its power of eminent domain to acquire" the properties. BA App. D (CP 494-95). This was a "final action" under RCW 42.30.020(3). The City unquestionably violated RCW 8.25.290 when it took final action on June 8, 2015, without giving the condemnees a reasonable opportunity to be heard. Indeed, when Kaseburg's fiancée tried to be heard, she was shut out *specifically because these appellants were involved in a different ongoing litigation with the City.* CP 520-21. A more blatant violation of due process is hard to imagine.

The appellate decision nonetheless holds that *adopting the ordinance* was the final final action and that – even then – the condemnees' constitutional rights were not implicated because only judicial condemnation proceedings require due process. App. A at 8-9 (quoting *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cnty. v. N. Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC*, 159 Wn.2d 555, 570, 151 P.3d 176 (2007)

⁵ The *Miller v. City of Tacoma* from 1968 is cited in the opening brief.

(*NAFTZI*); *Carlisle v. Columbia Irrig. Dist.*, 168 Wn.2d 555, 569, 572, 229 P.3d 761 (2010)). This holding defies the Legislature's express rejection of *RTA* and adoption of RCW 8.25.290.

The appellate court's reliance on **NAFTZI** is misplaced because it was decided prior to RCW 8.25.290, which supersedes it on this point. As for **Carlisle** – which no one cited below – it is inapposite and failed to recognize that RCW 8.25.290 intentionally displaced **RTA** and its progeny like **NAFTZI**. **Carlisle** involved a special assessment under a LID, not a condemnation proceeding. 168 Wn.2d at 560. Thus, RCW 8.25.290 was irrelevant in that case. **Carlisle** in no way supports the appellate decision.

In sum, the City violated the condemnees' due process rights vested under RCW 8.25.290. It excluded them from the condemnation process, depriving them of a reasonable opportunity to be heard. This Court should accept review to consider this significant constitutional question.

CONCLUSION

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