FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/19/2018 2:29 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95887-4

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREDERICK A. KASEBURG and KEITH L. HOLMQUIST

Appellants,

vs.

THE CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen C. Willey, WSBA #24499
Brandi B. Balanda, WSBA #48836
SAVITT BRUCE & WILLEY LLP
1425 Fourth Avenue Suite 800
Seattle, WA 98101-2272
(206) 749-0500

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. There is No Constitutional Procedural Due Process Issue.

Kaseburg argues that Appellants' procedural due process rights were denied because of outreach to and lobbying of individual Councilmembers by citizen constituents, and the Council's Letter recommendation to the Mayor that the City acquire the Property. Pet. at

³² Op. at 9-12.

³³ Op. at 12-15.

³⁴ *Id.*

14-17. Rhetoric aside, this argument fails to implicate any question of constitutional law.

In the condemnation context, constitutional rights regarding procedural due process inhere in the court proceeding that ultimately effects condemnation—not the legislative activities relating to the enabling ordinance that authorizes the government to initiate those proceedings. Kaseburg’s secondary argument about statutory notice during the legislative process likewise fails to create a constitutional issue.

1. Challenges to Legislative Activities Regarding a Condemnation Ordinance Do Not Implicate a Constitutional Issue.

Kaseburg argues his constitutional procedural due process rights were violated in two ways.

Kaseburg argues the City violated a statutory notice requirement for the hearing at which the Council adopted the Ordinance because the Councilmembers had “pre-decided” their positions as expressed in the prior Letter. Pet. at 16; CP 494-495.

Kaseburg also argues that the condemnees were “excluded” from the “process” because when his fiancée emailed a Councilmember to lobby for Kaseburg’s position, she was advised to direct future

communications through the City Attorney's office given then pending litigation between the City and Kaseburg. Pet. at 1, 16; CP 520-521.³⁵

Neither of these arguments raises any constitutional muster. Both concern the Council's legislative process and selection of the Property for condemnation, not the subsequent judicial condemnation action. It is well-settled law that an individual property owner has constitutional due process rights in the judicial condemnation proceedings, but not in the underlying legislative process that authorizes the government to initiate the judicial action. Simply put:

A resolution does not result in a taking of property and does not deprive a property owner of any rights. Even if the resolution is approved, the condemnation may or may not go forward. The actual condemnation action does not occur until the judicial hearing. Hyperbole and inflated rhetoric do not alter the fact that the individual landowner's constitutional rights are protected in the judicial proceeding, *not* in the public meeting authorizing condemnation.

³⁵ Councilmember Licata responded to Ms. Schwartz that he was not aware of the information she provided and he asked his assistant to "look into it." CP 520-21. Kaseburg's "exclusion" argument is also undermined by the fact that he and Holmquist were invited to attend the Parks Committee meeting and provide comment; and they also received notice that they could attend and provide comment before the full Council. CP 192-201; CP 203-206; CP 768-778; CP 780-783. There is no evidence that Kaseburg or Holmquist made any effort to engage in this process.

Public Utility Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cty. v. N. Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC (“NAFTZI”), 159 Wn.2d 555, 570-71, 151 P.3d 176 (2007) (emphasis in original).³⁶

Here, the Court of Appeals applied relevant precedent to hold that the City’s adoption of the Ordinance and the underlying legislative activities do not implicate constitutional due process rights. Op. at 6-9. “The actual condemnation action does not occur until the judicial hearing” and, “[t]hus, prior to the judicial proceeding, property owners suffer ‘no deprivation cognizable under the law of due process.’” Op. at 7 (quoting *NAFTZI*, 159 Wn.2d at 570-71; *Carlisle*, 168 Wn.2d at 569).

2. Kaseburg’s Statutory Notice Arguments are Inapposite.

Kaseburg’s arguments regarding the notice provided for by RCW 8.25.290 do not change this settled law. RCW 8.25.290 requires the City

³⁶ See also *Carlisle v. Columbia Irrig. Dist.*, 168 Wn.2d 555, 568-69, 229 P.3d 761 (2010) (constitutional due process inapplicable if actual deprivation is contingent on subsequent action). The United States Supreme court has “repeatedly characterized the condemnor’s decision on the necessity for a taking and the quantity to be appropriated as legislative and has, therefor, denied to land-owners the right to participate in that decision-making process or to litigate on federal constitutional grounds the decision to condemn private property.” *Joiner v. City of Dallas*, 380 F.Supp. 754, 764-65 (N.D.Tex. 1974) (citing cases); see also *Brody v. Village of Port Chester*, 434 F.3d 121, 133 (2nd Cir. 2005) (property owner “has no constitutional right to participate in the Village’s initial decision to exercise its power of eminent domain”).

to give property owners individualized notice before it “takes a final action authorizing condemnation as provided in RCW 8.12.040.”

The Washington State legislature enacted this statute in response to *Central Puget Sound Reg’l Transit Auth. v. Miller*, 156 Wn.2d 403, 128 P.3d 588 (2006), which held that the then-operative Washington statutes did not require personal notice of the public meeting establishing necessity (*i.e.*, the legislative selection of property for acquisition). *See* Appendix 1 (final bill report).

The legislative enactment of RCW 8.25.290 did not, however, create a constitutional procedural due process right with respect to the required statutory notice, and Kaseburg offers no authority for his argument otherwise. Pet. at 16. Nothing in the legislative history of RCW 8.25.290 suggests that the statute “supersedes” settled law regarding the inapplicability of constitutional due process to the legislative authorization of a condemnation ordinance—or to the limitations of procedural due process as articulated in *NAFTZI* or *Carlisle*.³⁷ Since no constitutional due

³⁷ *Cf. James v. Rowlands*, 606 F.3d 646, 656-57 (9th Cir. 2010) (state notice statute does not create constitutional procedural due process); *Whittaker v. Cty. of Lawrence*, 674 F.Supp.2d 668, 695-97 (W.D.Penn. 2009) (violation of state condemnation statute does not constitute violation of Due Process Clause). Kaseburg’s argument also depends upon the erroneous assertion that the Letter constituted a “Final Action” for purposes of RCW 8.25.290(1)(c). The Court of Appeals ruled that (a) the Letter was not a Final Action because it “authorized no action

process question is presented, RAP 13.4 does not provide for review of this issue.

B. There is No Evidence of any OPMA Violation.

Kaseburg challenges the Court of Appeals holding that that he failed to present any evidence and, thus, did not meet his burden of proof to support his claim that the City violated the Open Public Meetings Act (“OPMA”). Pet. at 11-13.

Kaseburg asserts that the City Council violated OPMA because a “public hearing ... never occurred” and the Council members “predetermined” how they would vote on a potential condemnation ordinance when they signed on to the Letter.³⁸ Pet. at 12; CP 765-66.

But the law requires something more than summary allegations. As the party asserting the purported OPMA violation, Kaseburg has the burden to show that the briefing session during which the City Council

whatsoever,” and (b) the City Council’s adoption of the Ordinance was the Final Action. Op. at 8-9. “Even then, the adoption of the Ordinance did not implicate the Appellants’ constitutional due process rights.” Op. at 9.

³⁸ Previously, Kaseburg’s primary OPMA argument—now abandoned—was the contention that “the City violated the OPMA by communicating via e-mail with members of the community” and that such communications “constituted a ‘chain meeting’ that was not open to the public.” Op. at 10. The Court of Appeals held that “there is no evidence of e-mails between a majority of the council members concerning official Council business.” *Id.* at 11. To the contrary, “the e-mails upon which the Appellants rely were communications between individual council members and *members of the community.*” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

discussed and approved the Letter violated the OPMA. *Wood v. Battle Ground School Dist.*, 107 Wn. App. 550, 558, 27 P.3d 1208 (2001).

In this respect, Kaseburg argues that the Council briefing session was closed to the public, but fails to offer any supporting evidence.³⁹ For this reason, the Court of Appeals held that “Appellants have produced no evidence of any meeting between council members subject to the OPMA that was not open to the public.” Op. at 12.

There is no basis in RAP 13.4(b) to review this ruling, which is grounded in a basic failure of evidence. Contrary to Kaseburg’s assertion (Pet. at 11), this is not an issue of substantial public interest.

C. The Appearance of Fairness Doctrine Does Not Apply.

1. A Legislative Hearing Does Not Implicate the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine.

Kaseburg argues the appearance of fairness doctrine applies to a condemnation ordinance because notice and a hearing are required by

³⁹ Kaseburg asserts that “[n]o evidence in this record shows that the June 8 briefing was an open public meeting.” Pet. at 13. This argument misapprehends which party bears the burden of proof regarding a purported OPMA violation—and is contrary to the public record. *See* n.12 *supra*. Kaseburg also argues that “even if a public meeting had occurred, it was not open to the excluded condemnees.” Pet. at 13. Again, Kaseburg points to no supporting evidence.

statute.⁴⁰ Pet. at 5 (citing *Zehring v. City of Bellevue*, 103 Wn.2d 588, 591, 694 P.2d 638 (1985)).

In *Zehring*, this Court held that the appearance of fairness doctrine does not apply to planning commission design review hearings for rezoning determinations because those hearings do not determine the legal rights of the parties. 102 Wn. 2d at 591. The Court also noted that design review hearings do not require a public hearing, and the appearance of fairness doctrine “has never been applied to administrative action except where a public hearing was required by statute.” *Id.*

Nothing in *Zehring* supports the proposition that because notice and a hearing on a condemnation ordinance are required by statute, the appearance of fairness doctrine therefore applies. In fact, this Court has squarely rejected such an expansive argument.

A statutory public hearing by a legislative body is not the talisman for invoking the appearance of fairness doctrine ... Prior cases should not be interpreted as indicating that a decision becomes quasi judicial and triggers the appearance of fairness doctrine by the mere fact that a hearing is required by statute.

⁴⁰ Kaseburg states that the City “violated the appearance of fairness doctrine by determining that it was going to condemn the properties before it notified the condemnees[.]” Pet. at 5. But there is no citation to the record and Kaseburg makes no mention of the City Council meeting at which the Ordinance was adopted, the prior Parks Committee Meeting, and the notices that Appellants received regarding both meetings. These facts are undisputed. *See also* n.31 *supra*.

Harris v. Hornbaker, 98 Wn.2d 650, 659-60, 658 P.2d 1219 (1983).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this precedent. Op. at 15.

2. A Condemnation Ordinance is a Legislative Act and Not Subject to the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine.

Kaseburg alternatively argues that passage of a condemnation ordinance is a “quasi-judicial” act subject to the appearance of fairness doctrine. Kaseburg’s argument is not supported by law.

It is settled law in Washington that the appearance of fairness doctrines does not apply to legislative decisions. *Harris*, 98 Wn.2d at 658 and n. 2 (reaffirming that the appearance of fairness doctrine has never been applied to legislative decisions); *Raynes v. City of Leavenworth*, 118 Wn.2d 237, 243, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992) (applicability of the appearance of fairness doctrine turns on whether the proceedings to amend the zoning code were legislative or quasi-judicial); RCW 42.36.010.

Under the common law, this Court has established a multifactor test to determine whether an action is quasi-judicial or legislative:

(1) whether the court could have been charged with the duty at issue in the first instance; (2) whether the courts have historically performed such duties; (3) whether the action of the municipal corporation involves application of existing law to past or present facts for the purpose of declaring or enforcing liability rather than a response to changing conditions through the enactment of a new general law of prospective application; and (4) whether the action more clearly resembles the ordinary business of courts, as opposed to those of legislators or administrators.

Harris v. Pierce Cty., 84 Wn. App. 222, 228, 928 P.2d 1111 (1996).⁴¹

Here, each factor reinforces that the City Council’s passage of the Ordinance is a legislative act—not quasi-judicial. Op. at 13-14. Courts do not have the power to make policy decisions regarding whether to expend public funds to acquire property, nor have they historically performed that duty. A decision to select property for a public use does not involve the application of law to declare or enforce liability, and passing legislation authorizing the expenditure of City funds for the benefit of the public is the ordinary business of legislators, not the courts.

Likewise, the statutory appearance of fairness doctrine is limited to “quasi-judicial” actions—*i.e.*, “those actions of the legislative body ... which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or other contested case proceeding.” RCW 42.36.010.

Contrary to Appellants’ imprecise assertion, the applicable law does not render “condemnation” to be a “quasi-judicial action because it determines the legal rights of specific parties (the condemnees)[.]” Pet. at 10. The Ordinance does not determine any legal rights. The Ordinance, like other eminent domain legislation, authorizes condemnation

⁴¹ Kaseburg refers to these as the “Harris 1996 factors” and erroneously asserts that the City did not address them in its prior briefing. *Compare* Pet. at 10 *with* Respondent’s Brief on Appeal at 38-39.

proceedings, but this authorization does not determine a condemnee's rights. Those are determined in a court proceeding, the judicial condemnation action. *NAFTZI*, 159 Wn.2d at 570-71; CP 26-29.

Whether the Court applies the four-factor *Harris* test or the statutory definition in RCW 42.36.010, the result is the same. The City Council's adoption of the Ordinance is a legislative action that is not subject to the appearance of fairness doctrine.⁴² The Court of Appeals correctly applied the relevant law and found the Ordinance is a legislative action. Kaseburg's arguments provide no basis to revisit that ruling consistent with RAP 13.4(b).⁴³

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's precedent regarding the constitutional aspects of condemnation proceedings and the applicable scope of the appearance of fairness doctrine, and it made an

⁴² See also *King Cty. v. Farr*, 7 Wn. App. 600, 605-18, 501 P.2d 612 (1972) (reviewing "legislative authorization of condemnation proceedings").

⁴³ Contrary to Kaseburg's assertion, this decision does not "conflict" with *Smith v. Skagit Cty.*, 75 Wn.2d 715, 453 P.2d 832 (1969), *Buell v. City of Bremerton*, 80 Wn.2d 518, 495 P.2d 1358 (1972) or *Fleming v. City of Tacoma*, 81 Wn.2d 292, 502 P.2d 327 (1972). These cases each involved zoning decisions and pre-dated codification of the appearance of fairness doctrine for local land use decisions in RCW 42.36. Regardless, none of those decisions supports characterizing adoption of the Ordinance as quasi-judicial. *Harris*, 98 Wn.2d at n. 2 (the rezoning of specific tracts is adjudicatory in nature, not legislative).

unremarkable evidentiary ruling regarding Appellants' OPMA argument.

As set forth above, Kaseburg and Holmquist have failed to satisfy any element of RAP 13.4(b) and the Court should deny review.